## THE EFFECTS OF ANIONS ON EXCITABLE CELLS

# PAUL HOROWICZ

### Department of Physiology and Pharmacology, Duke University Medical Center, Durham, North Carolina

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Ι.	Introduction	193
II.	Early studies on the lyotropic series of anions	194
III.	Amphibian skeletal muscle	197
	A. Resting membrane properties	197
	B. Action potential	199
	C. Mechanical response	201
	D. Excitation-contraction coupling	202
	E. Other metabolic effects	204
IV.	Mammalian skeletal muscle	204
V.	Cardiac muscle	205
	A. Cation mechanisms and the action potential	205
	B. Internal chloride concentration in quiescent cells	206
	C. Effects on membrane conductance and spontaneous activity	206
VI.	Smooth muscle	208
VII.	Invertebrate muscle	209
VIII.	Nerve	210
	A. Giant axons of Loligo	210
	B. Crustacean nerve	211
	C. Amphibian myelinated nerve	211
IX.	Chemoreceptors	213
Х.	Synaptic transmission	213
XI.	Summary and conclusion	215

## I. INTRODUCTION

Much experimental work in recent decades has been focused on the role of cation movements in excitable cells. As a result, there is now a solid experimental base supporting the theory that rapid changes of membrane permeability to cations provide an adequate ionic description for the action potential in excitable cells. First the movement of sodium ions followed shortly thereafter by the movement of potassium ions down their respective electrochemical gradients are the essential events resulting from the permeability changes that occur in the membrane during the action potential. Recently, however, attention has gradually been turned to a study of the movement of chloride ions across the membranes of excitable cells. The results which have so far been obtained, although less extensive and detailed than those obtained for the cations, clearly show that chloride movement significantly affects and modulates the activity of excitable cells; this is so despite the fact that the movement of chloride is not primarily responsible for the characteristic all-or-none propagated action potential in animal cells. In certain types of synaptic inhibition, an increase in the chloride permeability of the postsynaptic membrane is a prominent and essential part of the inhibitory process.

Late in the nineteenth century, Hofmeister was the first carefully to study the concentration of electrolytes required to salt-out egg albumin (87). He found that both the cations and the anions exerted effects and he arranged a series for the two groups indicating the relative molar concentrations of the ions required for salting-out egg albumin. Any series of cations or anions arranged in the order of their ability to alter some measurable property or function and similar in order to the sequence of cations or anions originally found by Hofmeister is known as a lyotropic or Hofmeister series. Such ionic sequences have a general significance and have been found for such properties as the solubility of gases in solutions of electrolytes, the solubility of nonelectrolytes in water, and many other similar phenomena (47). The effects produced by substituting anions of a lyotropic series for chloride ions constitute one experimental device widely used in the study of the role of chloride ions in excitable cells.

Substitution of foreign anions for chloride affects excitable cells in several ways. First, since the membrane permeability is not the same for the different anions, substitution of any anion for chloride alters the current carried across the membrane by anions for any given transmembrane potential disturbance. Second, some foreign anions can alter the membrane permeability to the chloride ions. Third, from the evidence presently available, foreign anions appear to have little effect on the potassium permeability but appear to have a small effect on the sodium permeability of the membranes in excitable cells.

In recent years considerable attention has also been given to the problem of how excitation of the sarcolemma brings about the contraction of muscle proteins (95, 149, 162, 163). Substitution of foreign anions for chloride markedly affects this excitation-contraction coupling process. The effects which have been observed are not yet fully explained. In part they can be ascribed to changes in transmembrane potentials resulting from the altered membrane conductance induced by the specific anion replacement for chloride. However, other effects are not easily ascribed to the permeability changes induced by the altered anion composition of the extracellular fluid.

The first part of this review is concerned with the problems raised by the early workers in their studies on the changes in excitability produced when foreign anions are substituted for chloride. Then, the more recent data on anion effects in amphibian skeletal muscle are considered. Since this work is the most extensive, it provides a framework of fairly well studied effects which is useful for interpreting the somewhat less extensively explored effects of anions on other excitable tissues. Finally, the role of chloride movement in synaptic inhibition is reviewed.

# II. EARLY STUDIES ON THE LYOTROPIC SERIES OF ANIONS

Several experimental procedures were used by early workers in studying the effects of foreign anions on excitable cells. Because contractions are relatively easy to measure, muscles were extensively employed in these studies.

One frequently used technique was to test the responsiveness of muscles to chemical stimuli as they gradually become spontaneously active after being

placed in solutions free of calcium and potassium ions. The appearance of spontaneous rhythmic contractions in muscles exposed to a solution containing 86 mM NaCl, made slightly alkaline by Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>, was first observed and studied by Biedermann (17, 18). He concluded that these spontaneous contractions were caused by direct action of the sodium salt solution on the muscle fiber because the contractions occurred in fully curarized muscles. In 1886 Ringer (147) reported that spontaneous activity also appears when partially isolated sartorius muscles are placed in a pure isosmotic sodium chloride solution without the addition of Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>. In one of the first studies on the effect of using anions other than chloride, Zoethout (178) showed that a muscle placed in a 125 mM sodium iodide solution for 10 minutes was sensitized to give contractions on subsequent exposure to a solution containing 6.3 mM potassium chloride. This potassium concentration ordinarily does not produce contractions. A similar pretreatment with 125 mM sodium bromide gave a smaller effect on exposure to 6.3 mM potassium. Subsequently, in a more extensive series of experiments using various chemical stimuli, Lillie (123) found that the contractile response of muscle was potentiated by a short 4-minute preliminary exposure to pure isosmotic sodium salt solution. The order of the relative potency of the salts was NaCl < NaBr < $NaNO_3 < NaClO_3 < NaI \le NaSCN$ . Gellhorn (60), studying only the potentiation of potassium contractions, found a similar sequence with sulfate placed between nitrate and iodide. Gellhorn also showed (61, 62) that the potentiating action of NaSCN solutions was so large that mere reimmersion in a physiological salt solution having a normal potassium concentration was sufficient to produce contractions. In later experiments, Chao (29) found that the action of any given anion was antagonized by HCl and by chlorides of the alkaline earth metals in the order  $SrCl_2 < MgCl_2 \approx CaCl_2 < HCl$ . For any given antagonist the minimal concentration needed was least for chloride and gradually increased in the order of the lyotropic sequence.

In addition to the changes in their excitability, muscles also swell when they are immersed in pure isosmotic sodium salt solutions. Chao and Chen (32) found that the rate of swelling is influenced by the anion. The swelling rate in sodium iodide was 80% greater than it was in sodium chloride; the rates for bromide and nitrate were in their usual intermediate positions for the lyotropic series.

Another method used in these early studies on the action of anions developed out of Overton's original findings which showed that muscles become electrically inexcitable when they are placed in isotonic solutions of sucrose, glucose, or mannitol (137). Under these conditions, the addition of 12 mM NaCl restored excitability. After rendering muscles inexcitable by soaking them in isotonic sucrose solutions, Schwartz (155) tested the action of anions by transferring these muscles to isotonic solutions in which 68 milliosmoles of sucrose were replaced by equivalent amounts of various sodium salts. The action of an anion was determined by measuring its ability to restore and maintain contractile responsiveness under constant low frequency stimulation. Thiocyanate was able to maintain the contractile responsiveness for the longest time, citrate, the shortest. In the sequence citrate,  $SO_4^-$ ,  $CH_3COO^-$ ,  $Cl^-$ ,  $Br^-$ ,  $I^-$ ,  $CNS^-$  a given anion restored the

response of a muscle made inexcitable in a solution containing the anion preceding it in this series. That these results are dependent neither on the relatively low ionic strengths of the solution used nor on the presence of sucrose, was demonstrated by Gellhorn (63). In his experiments, muscles were stimulated at a low frequency until they were mechanically unresponsive in solutions which had 30% of the normal chloride replaced by osmotically equivalent amounts of foreign anions. The relative effectiveness of the anions in restoring and maintaining mechanical responsiveness was the same as that originally found by Schwartz. At this point it is important to note that muscle membranes rapidly depolarize and eventually become inexcitable in low Ca and Ca-free solutions (22, 37, 127). Since citrate and sulfate bind calcium, the relative effectiveness of these anions in excitability studies depend not only on their lyotropy but also on their chelating properties whenever the ionized calcium is not maintained by some buffer system.

The results of experiments with muscles using other types of stimuli for testing contractile responsiveness have given the usual lyotropic series. For example, Chao (30) found that the reversible contracture produced on sudden cooling of frog muscle after a brief soak in a pure isotonic sodium salt solution depended not only on the temperature difference but also on the anion present; the usual sequence was found for the sensitizing effectiveness of the anions. The same potentiating sequence is also obtained when muscle is stimulated by light after staining with eosin (124).

In a very interesting study by Chao (31), two different methods were used to determine the action of anions on the electrical excitability of muscle fibers. In one method, the rheobase of the most excitable fibers was determined by stimulating the muscle with condenser discharges having a long time constant. In the second method, changes in excitability were presumed to have occurred when there were changes in contraction strength in response to constant stimuli that were above threshold but submaximal. With this second method, an increase in the mechanical response was interpreted as a recruitment of fibers resulting from an increase in excitability. The lyotropic sequences obtained using these two methods were the same and were in agreement with the series obtained in the earlier work. As will be seen, the increase in mechanical response in Chao's second method is the result not only of recruitment of fibers but also of an increased twitch height in fibers which are excited.

Out of all these early experiments, only those results obtained from the determination of rheobase, just quoted, are easy to evaluate. In these measurements the output, a just barely detectable mechanical response, is fairly directly related to the stimulus input. In all the other measurements, the output variable generally measured was the extent and duration of muscle shortening. Such measurements are difficult to evaluate with precision because in muscle there are many factors which intervene and play a significant role between the stimulus input and the output measured as shortening or tension development. From what follows, it will be seen that nearly every known step between excitation and contraction is altered when the anionic composition of the bathing medium is varied. These early findings gave such consistent sequences because most of the factors in the chain of events leading to contraction vary in a synergistic manner.

#### III. AMPHIBIAN SKELETAL MUSCLE

### A. Resting membrane properties

Most of the work concerned with the effects of anions on the resting electrical and ionic properties of striated muscle has been done on the "fast" or "twitch" fiber system in frog muscles. For comparison of this system with the physiologically and anatomically distinct "slow" striated muscle system in the frog, the reader is referred to the articles by Kuffler (115) and Peachey (140). For the twitch fiber system, it was generally accepted prior to 1941 that the muscle membrane is permeable to potassium and essentially impermeable to anions and sodium (53). At that time, Conway advanced the hypothesis that the muscle membrane is permeable to potassium and cations of the same or smaller diameter in aqueous solutions and also to the smaller anions such as chloride (20). Boyle and Conway showed that when the external potassium and chloride ion concentrations were varied over a wide range the muscle potassium and chloride conformed with the concentrations to be predicted for a Donnan equilibrium system in which the muscle membrane is permeable to potassium and chloride ions. More recently, Adrian (2, 3) has measured by direct and indirect methods the steady state internal chloride concentration in muscles exposed to solutions with normal and raised potassium content. His findings are consistent with the view that chloride reaches the equilibrium predicted from the measured membrane potential (1) in any given solution.

In order to determine the relative conductance or permeability of the potassium and chloride ions, Hodgkin and Horowicz (84) measured the effect on membrane potential of sudden changes in the concentration of external potassium or chloride, using single fiber preparations. At constant external potassium concentrations, variation of external chloride, by replacing chloride with the impermeant anion sulfate (84), produces no permanent displacement of membrane potential. There are, however, large transient changes lasting from 10 to 60 minutes, in the direction expected for a chloride electrode. Thus, when the external chloride was reduced by replacement with the impermeant anion sulfate, there was a transient depolarization of the membrane; when the external chloride concentration was increased to its normal level after equilibrating in the low chloride solution there was a transient hyperpolarization of the membrane followed by a return to the resting membrane potential. The explanation of these results is fairly simple. When the external chloride is suddenly reduced, starting from an equilibrium condition, there is an unbalanced leakage of chloride ions out of the cell which produces the depolarization; when the equilibrium is disturbed by an increase in external chloride concentration the movement of chloride ions into the fiber causes a hyperpolarization. For a wide range of external potassium and chloride concentrations the chloride permeability remains at a constant value of about  $4 \times 10^6$  cm/sec. In resting fibers equilibrated in a physiological salt

solution, experiments such as those described above indicated that the chloride conductance was about twice the potassium conductance; the absolute magnitude of the resting potassium and chloride conductances was about 100 and 200  $\mu$ mho/cm<sup>2</sup>, respectively. These same experiments also showed that the potassium and chloride systems together accounted for 90% of the total membrane conductance in resting frog muscle. Later, Hutter and Noble (92), measuring the fall in membrane conductance on replacing chloride by the impermeant monovalent anions methylsulfate and pyroglutamate, found that in the resting state chloride ions accounted for two-thirds of the total membrane conductance. Adrian and Freygang (4), using an elegant electrical method and substituting the impermeant sulfate ion for chloride, also found a similar contribution of chloride to the total membrane conductance. Both groups of investigators were also able to fit their findings with a constant membrane permeability to chloride for a wide range of experimental conditions. All investigators, however, have found that the *relative* contribution of chloride ions to the membrane conductance varied with the membrane potential and the external potassium concentrations. The reason for this is that the potassium conductance is highly dependent on the membrane potential and on the direction of net potassium movement in any given situation. For inward movement of potassium ions the membrane permeability is much greater than for outward movement of these ions (4, 5, 84, 107). This property of the potassium system seems to be needed to explain the low resting membrane potential found in some fibers when they are placed in chloride- and potassium-free solutions (52, 166).

Hutter and Padsha (90) measured the membrane resistance of muscle when other permeant anions were substituted for chloride in the bathing medium. When the chloride normally present in physiological salt solution is replaced by bromide, nitrate, or iodide the membrane resistance is increased. The relative magnitude of the membrane resistance when the chloride is replaced by one of these anions was:  $Cl^{-}:Br^{-}:NO_{3}^{-}:I^{-} = 1.0:1.5:2.0:2.3$ . Since Edwards *et al.* (46) found earlier that  $Br^{-}$ ,  $NO_{3}^{-}$ , and  $I^{-}$  do not greatly influence the movement of  $K^{42}$  in muscle, these experiments indicate that the increase in membrane resistance was due to a reduction in the anion conductance of the muscle membrane. The interpretation is also consistent with the earlier findings of Conway and Moore (34) which showed that when muscles were placed in solutions containing high concentrations of potassium salts the rate of swelling was fastest for chloride, slower for bromide, and slowest with nitrate.

One consequence of the increase in membrane resistance produced by these other anions would be a reduction in the current threshold of the muscle fibers. This expectation is in good agreement with the older findings of Chao (31) in which the rheobase was reduced by treatment with these anions.

Since nitrate crosses the membrane less easily than chloride one might expect that replacing chloride with nitrate would give a transient depolarization of the type observed with sulfate or with a salt solution in which some NaCl has been replaced by sucrose. Using whole sartorius muscle and single fibers several observers have found that the resting potential after equilibration was the same in nitrate as in chloride salt solution and could detect no transient depolarization on first applying nitrate. This observation can be explained on the assumption that the effect of nitrate is to reduce the chloride permeability until it about equals the nitrate permeability. Under these circumstances there would be no change in resting potential on applying nitrate. The measurements of Adrian (3) and Harris (71) on chloride movement in the presence of other anions make the above assumption reasonable. In radioisotope experiments, they have shown that when a muscle is loaded with  $Cl^{36}$  the outflow of isotope is reduced when chloride in the external fluid has been replaced by  $Br^-$ ,  $NO_3^-$ ,  $I^-$ ,  $ClO_4^-$ , or SCN<sup>-</sup> in order of increasing effect. Adrian's value of 11 minutes for the time constant for loss of  $Cl^{36}$  from muscles in normal chloride solutions agrees reasonably with the earlier results of Levi and Ussing (122).

In some respects it appears as if the anion  $SCN^-$  behaves in a somewhat anomalous fashion, particularly when used at high concentrations. Thus, Hutter and Padsha (90) have observed that at low concentrations of  $SCN^-$ , there is an increase in the membrane resistance but at high concentrations of  $SCN^-$  the resistance begins to fall again. In some earlier work by Höber and his colleagues (78, 79), in which measurements on demarcation currents were made, SCNapparently caused an initial transient hyperpolarization. These observations are difficult to evaluate because a liquid junction potential was present in the measuring circuit which was not allowed for. The experiments of Lubin (125), however, in which the transmembrane potential was measured with microelectrodes, also indicate a small hyperpolarization of the membrane in  $SCN^-$  solutions. These findings might be explained on the assumption that at high concentrations of  $SCN^-$  the membrane becomes rather permeable to  $SCN^-$ .

Recently, Hubbard (89) has measured the membrane constants of normal and denervated frog sartorius muscles. The total membrane conductance is decreased in denervated fibers. This decreased conductance is due to a decrease of potassium conductance; the chloride conductance is unchanged after denervation. As a result, the fraction which chloride contributes to the total membrane conductance increases from two-thirds in normal fibers to three-quarters in denervated fibers.

# B. Action potential

According to the now classic theory of Hodgkin and Huxley, which accounts for action potentials in various excitable tissues, the local currents in front of an action potential depolarize the membrane to a level at which the normally low permeability of the membrane to sodium increases in a regenerative fashion so that the membrane becomes highly and selectively permeable to sodium (81, 82, 94). As a result, sodium ions can now move down their electrochemical gradient. In this theory, the rising phase of the action potential is ascribed to a large entry of sodium ions. The falling phase is caused by a delayed increase in potassium permeability and a decrease in the sodium permeability subsequent to its initial rapid increase. The falling phase is thus ascribed to a large exit of potassium ions over and above any residual entry of sodium ions.

In support of this theory for striated muscle, Nastuk and Hodgkin showed that the peak of the action potential varied as if it were largely a sodium equilibrium potential when they varied the external sodium concentration (132). This theory was also checked by measuring the movement of labeled potassium and sodium ions during activity in single muscle fibers (83). On stimulating the fibers, there was a net entry of 15  $\mu\mu$ mol of Na per cm<sup>2</sup> surface membrane per impulse. The net potassium exit amounted to about 10  $\mu\mu$ mol per cm<sup>2</sup> per impulse. It was suggested that the difference might be due to a net chloride entry during each impulse.

After the peak of the muscle action potential repolarization occurs in two distinct phases. Initially there is a rapid repolarization which is complete within approximately 2 or 3 milliseconds after the peak of the spike and leaves the membrane depolarized by about 15 to 20 millivolts. After the initial repolarization, the potential more slowly approaches its resting value. This second phase of slow repolarization is referred to as the negative afterpotential and generally lasts about 30 to 50 msec. In early experiments, Frank (55) reported that the decline of the negative afterpotential was exponential with a time constant similar to that determined from the decay of hyperpolarizations. More recently, Persson (141) has shown that although the later phase of the negative afterpotential decays exponentially, during the first 10 to 15 msec the behavior of the membrane potential deviates significantly from its terminal time course. During the earlier part of the afterpotential, the membrane resistance is much lower than it is at rest. Consonant with this are the earlier findings of Benoit and Coraboeuf (14) that the membrane potential during the early phase of the afterpotential is much less altered by polarizing currents than is the later phase of the afterpotential. Desmedt (42) found that the absolute magnitude of the negative afterpotential remained constant when the potassium equilibrium potential was made more negative (*i.e.*, inside more negative to outside) by either decreasing the external potassium concentration or increasing the internal potassium concentration. On the other hand, both Frank (55) and Persson (141) found that the afterpotential becomes less negative when the potassium equilibrium potential is made less negative by increasing the external potassium concentration. Thus, the available evidence favors the view that after the first 10 to 15 msec the negative afterpotential is largely passive. However, the initial portion of the afterpotential is associated with a low membrane resistance which is probably related to the terminal phases of the increased cation permeabilities from the spike. The initial value of the afterpotential seems to depend in part on the potassium equilibrium potential.

The effects on the action potential of various anions used to replace chloride in the external solution have been the subject of a number of reports. Hutter and Noble (92), using the impermeant anion methylsulfate as a substitute for chloride, showed that above  $17^{\circ}$ C the fast phase of repolarization is not appreciably affected, while the negative afterpotential is increased in size and duration. At about  $17^{\circ}$ C, the negative afterpotential begins to show a "hump" which at higher temperatures gives rise to repetitive firing. The lengthening of

the afterpotential can be attributed to the increased membrane resistance produced by the removal of the chloride conductance system. These authors suggested that the prominent "hump" at the high temperatures may be caused by a rapid recovery of the Na conductance system coupled with the removal of the shunting effect of chloride; together, these conditions could give rise to a subthreshold regenerative potential change before the afterpotential has decayed. It is noteworthy, in this connection, that Persson (141) found that the membrane resistance during the afterpotential increases when methylsulfate replaces chloride in direct proportion to the change in the resting membrane resistance produced by this replacement. At temperatures below 17°C, Hutter and Noble found that the rapid phase of repolarization was also prolonged when methylsulfate was substituted for chloride. Harris and Martins-Ferreira (72) had previously noted a slowing of the fast phase of repolarization when nitrate replaced chloride in the muscles of a South American frog. An increase in the magnitude and duration of the negative afterpotential has been observed for the anions, Br<sup>-</sup> (50), NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> (49, 50, 72), I<sup>-</sup> (49), SCN<sup>-</sup> (15, 125), thiosulfate (51), moniodomethane sulfonate (51), and acetate (51).

## C. Mechanical response

Using single supramaximal shocks while measuring tension development under isometric conditions, Kahn and Sandow (101, 102, 103) showed that when chloride is replaced by nitrate the peak twitch tension is greatly increased; the contraction and relaxation times are prolonged; and the maximum rate of tension change for both contraction and relaxation is increased. The responses were twitches, since only a single action potential was recorded when the muscle was stimulated by a single shock. Since the stimuli were maximal for both chloride and nitrate, the twitch potentiation was not caused by fiber recruitment. This finding has been confirmed in other experiments which show that nitrate potentiation of the twitch also occurs in single fibers (86).

It has been demonstrated in whole muscle that there is no change in the maximum tetanic tension (77, 103), and in single fibers that there is no change in the maximum contracture when high concentrations of SCN<sup>-</sup> replace chloride. For most of the anions it has been demonstrated that the velocity of shortening of the contractile component under isotonic loads has not appreciably changed (77, 125, 150). In terms of the phenomenological model developed by Hill and his colleagues over the years (75, 174), the reason why the tension in an isometric twitch is less than in a tetanus is that the active state for the contractile element lasts too short a time in a twitch for it to be able to stretch the series elastic component enough to exert full tension. Since the maximum tension development and the force-velocity relation for the contractile element is unaltered by the anions of the lyotropic series, Ritchie (148), as well as Hill and Macpherson (77), suggested that these anions produce their effects on the twitch by increasing the duration of activity in the contractile element. By increasing the duration of activity, the contractile element can have more time to shorten and thereby to stretch the series elastic component more completely. This allows the ability

of the contractile element to bear a load and develop tension to be revealed more fully during the twitch. In conformance with this expectation, most of the anions on the lyotropic series, as well as methylsulfate, have been shown to increase the duration of the active state of the contractile component during muscular contraction (77, 92, 125, 148).

Sandow and his colleagues have shown that the twitch tension in a series of twitches is reduced by fatigue more quickly in nitrate solutions than it is in chloride solutions (103). The nitrate effect on fatigability can be simulated in chloride solutions by stimulating at a low frequency with pairs of maximal shocks 20 msec apart.

Hill and Macpherson (77) have noted that the heat production in an isometric twitch was greater when nitrate replaced chloride. This increase in heat production was nearly proportional to the increase in peak tension. In an isometric fused tetanus during maximum tension maintenance the heat production was the same for both anions.

Other anions of the lyotropic series have similar mechanical effects and all workers agree that the potentiating effectiveness of anions on the twitch is  $Cl^- < Br^- < NO_3^- < I^- < SCN^-$  (77, 86, 103, 128).

## D. Excitation-contraction coupling

A number of investigators have reached the conclusion that the event which normally induces contraction in skeletal muscle is a change of membrane potential (85, 114, 149, 162, 163). Also, there seems to be general agreement that in normal muscle fibers, placed in chloride-containing solutions, the degree of depolarization required to activate the mechanical system is close to the threshold for the propagation of excitation (85, 114, 145, 168). An important advance has been made by the work of Huxley and his associates (95, 96, 97) who have studied the activation of the mechanical system in muscle fibers by the use of small electrodes placed against the external surface of the sarcolemma. By passing current pulses through these electrodes they were able to restrict the area of membrane which was polarized and thus could explore the surface membrane for patches particularly sensitive in producing contractions. Only at certain areas were pulses found to be effective in producing local contractions when the membrane was depolarized; and from a comparative study it was found that these areas were located over regions associated with the triads of the endoplasmic reticulum (144).

In the early work on the effects of anions in the Hofmeister series by Kahn and Sandow (103), as well as Hill and Macpherson (77), it was shown that the rate at which the effects developed in whole muscle when an anion was applied and the rate at which the effects were reversed when the anion was removed were limited by the rate at which the anion could diffuse through the interspaces. In later experiments with single fibers when the anions could be rapidly changed at the surface it was shown by Hodgkin and Horowicz (86) that the effect of the anions on twitch amplitude took place with a delay of 1 to 3 seconds; this delay was several times longer than that found for the blocking action of Na-free solutions and thus could not easily be attributed to diffusion through an unstirred layer outside the fiber. That a membrane site is involved in these anion effects is clear from the fact that the effect develops fully before any significant quantities of the anions appear inside the cell and from the fact that the effects disappear rapidly after long equilibration in solutions containing the various anions. In the latter situation, the effects disappear when the anions are removed from the outside before there is any significant decrease in the anions which, after equilibration, are inside (77). In order to explain why the effects of nitrate on twitch amplitude are slower than those of sodium on propagation, it was suggested that the sites responsible for the action potential are probably on the surface, whereas those concerned with activating the contractile system, which are affected by the anions, might be located in a tubular component of the endoplasmic reticulum.

Several workers (15, 49, 128, 170) have suggested that the effect of foreign anions on the twitch may be partly due to their action in prolonging the spike or the afterpotential, or both, and in increasing the amplitude of the afterpotential. Another factor, which is probably also important, is revealed in the experiments on the effects of foreign anions on potassium-induced contractures. Thus it has been recently found that  $Br^-$ ,  $NO_3^-$ , and low concentrations of SCNreduce the potassium concentration and the membrane depolarization required to induce a given amount of tension (56, 86). From these observations, the potentiating effect of foreign anions on the twitch can be attributed partly to increased activation during the spike and partly to a reduction of the mechanical threshold below the level of the afterpotential.

It has been suggested (86) that since the order in which the anions act (Cl<sup>-</sup> < Br<sup>-</sup> < NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> < I<sup>-</sup> < SCN<sup>-</sup>) corresponds to their absorbability (151, 152, 160), the shift of the mechanical threshold towards the resting membrane potential might be accounted for by their absorption at the outer edge of the membrane. Such absorption of the anions would introduce locally an electric field inside the membrane which subtracts from that contributed by the resting membrane potential. Thus the foreign anions could alter the distribution of other charged groups or dipoles within the membrane without changing the potential difference across the membrane. If a reduction in the electric field at some location within the membrane is the critical event initiating contraction, such absorption of anions will shift the membrane potential which is just threshold for mechanical activation towards the resting membrane potential.

Another suggestion concerning the mechanism by which foreign anions potentiate contractions was advanced by Shanes (157). This suggestion rests on the specific hypothesis that calcium entry into skeletal fibers is the important link between excitation and contraction. Much of the evidence for this hypothesis has already been reviewed by several workers (16, 57, 149, 157). It is assumed that calcium which is found at certain sites in the membrane is released into the myoplasm as the result of membrane depolarization. Shanes suggested that since

the foreign anions are more polarizable they might be expected to increase substantially the binding of calcium in the membrane at rest and enhance the release of calcium into the cell when the membrane is depolarized.

## E. Other metabolic effects

In 1936, Solandt found that in frog sartorius exposed to a modified physiological salt solution containing 10 to 20 mM potassium ions there is a large increase in the rate of heat production (159). Earlier work by Hegnauer *et al.* (74) had shown that these concentrations of potassium had a similar effect on the oxygen consumption. Recently Hill and Howarth (76) have confirmed and extended the observations on heat production. From the effects that increased Rb and Ca have on this stimulated heat production, they concluded that a partial depolarization of the membrane, insufficient to produce contraction, releases some of the chemical processes normally activated by excitation. Substitution of  $NO_3^-$  and I<sup>-</sup> reduced the concentration of external potassium needed to induce these high rates of heat production. These effects are analogous to the effects of the foreign anions on potassium-induced contractures mentioned above.

Axelsson and Thesleff (9) have shown that caffeine produces contractures without depolarization of the surface membrane. That this caffeine contracture is also potentiated by the foreign anions in their usual order of potency, has been demonstrated by Matsushima *et al.* (129).

## IV. MAMMALIAN SKELETAL MUSCLE

Very little information exists on the internal chloride concentration in normal mammalian muscle cells. It is, in fact, current practice to equate the chloride space with the extracellular space in most work done on mammalian skeletal muscle. Twenty-two years ago, Conway and Fitzgerald (33) abandoned this procedure. In 1945, Wilde (173) reported that in two groups of nephrectomized rats having plasma potassium concentrations of 8.9 and 12.4 mM, the internal chloride concentrations were 7.3 and 10.1 mM, respectively. Although the internal chloride increased with an increase in the external potassium the results do not agree quantitatively with the Conway theory since the internal  $[K] \times [C]$  product was about twice the external product. To test whether the chloride ion is distributed passively it is necessary to know the membrane potential at the various external potassium concentrations. The Conway treatment assumes potassium is in equilibrium and that the membrane behaves as a potassium electrode. Since it has been shown (177) that the membrane potential does not behave as a potassium electrode in rat muscle, it would be hazardous to state definitely whether or not chloride is distributed passively on the basis of Wilde's data.

Indirect evidence that mammalian muscle is permeable to chloride and that chloride is normally present within the cells comes from the experiments of Giebisch *et al.* (64) in which membrane potentials were measured on single fibers of the gracilis muscle of the cat in a perfused hindlimb preparation. Partial re-

placement of NaCl by saccharose was accompanied by a depolarization from a mean resting potential of -92 mV and a sudden increase of concentration of potassium and lactic acid in the venous outflow. These effects were not accompanied by contractures and were reversible. Much larger depolarizations were produced by sulfate substitution. These were accompanied by fibrillations and contractures. These effects can be ascribed to the reduction of extracellular chloride producing a net loss of chloride from the cells. The larger effects produced by sulfate are probably the result of the decreased calcium ion concentration in the perfusate.

In other experiments (113), it was shown that loss of potassium upon replacing chloride in the perfusion solution was dependent on the foreign anion. The loss of potassium was greatest for sulfate, with the other anions being ordered  $SO_4^- > NO_3^- > Br^-$ . However, the tension developed by the gastrocnemius was not changed during perfusion with solutions having nitrate and bromide replacing chloride.

When rat diaphragm muscle is placed in chloride-free solution, in which chloride is replaced by methylsulfate, a single shock to the nerve gives rise to repetitive firing (126). This effect is similar to the repetitive firing found in frog muscle exposed to chloride-free solutions at comparable temperatures (92). Chronically denervated diaphragms fibrillate in chloride-free solution. In such denervated preparations, acetylcholine is more effective in depolarizing the muscle membrane in chloride-free solutions (126). Stormann *et al.* (164) have also shown that in normally innervated muscle of the cat replacement of chloride by sulfate, nitrate, or bromide increased the sensitivity of the muscle to intraarterial injections of acetylcholine. It can be inferred from all of these effects that chloride ions contribute to the membrane conductance of mammalian muscle and thereby have a stabilizing effect.

## V. CARDIAC MUSCLE

## A. Cation mechanisms and the action potential

It is generally agreed that the initial rapid depolarization in the cardiac action potential is produced by a regenerative increase in sodium permeability as in nerve. As for the mechanism of the much slower repolarization there is still some debate. The kernel of the dispute is whether or not the repolarization is dependent on the membrane potential *and* time or time alone. The disputants agree that the repolarization is determined mainly by the combined effects of the sodium and potassium conductance systems so that the current carried outward by the potassium exceeds the current carried inward by the sodium during the falling phase. For the details concerning the experimental data and theoretical interpretations the reader is referred to the papers of Johnson, Noble, Woodbury, and their associates (21, 99, 100, 134, 135, 136, 175). Excellent general reviews of the ionic mechanisms involved in cardiac action potentials have recently been provided by Woodbury (175) and Trautwein (169).

#### B. Internal chloride concentration in quiescent cells

Page (139) has presented evidence that  $Cl^-$  can enter heart muscle cells. Using quiescent cat papillary muscle and incubating for 1 hour in a normal physiological salt solution containing  $Cl^{36}$  and  $C^{14}$ -mannitol (the latter for determining the extracellular space) he obtained a value of 17 mM for the internal chloride concentration. A value of 18 mM for internal bromide concentration was obtained after incubating for 2 or 3 hours in Br<sup>92</sup>-labeled solution. The resting membrane potential was found by microelectrodes to be 80 mV, with the inside negative (138). If chloride was in equilibrium this value of membrane potential corresponds to an internal chloride concentration of only 7.4 mM. Although this discrepancy might be taken to indicate that there is active transport of chloride into the cell, other alternatives such as inhomogeneities in the composition of the extracellular compartment, a lower activity coefficient for the intracellular Cl, or both, provide possible explanations which cannot be excluded at present. Lamb (121) has noted a similar discrepancy in auricles from rat hearts, for which similar explanations can be advanced.

## C. Effects on membrane conductance and spontaneous activity

When foreign anions replace chloride in the bathing medium several striking effects are produced in cardiac muscle. These effects have been attributed to the sensitivity of certain phases of the cardiac action potential to changes in membrane conductance associated with changing the anions. As in skeletal muscle, replacing chloride by large impermeant anions like sulfate and methylsulfate reduces the membrane conductance. In contrast with skeletal muscle, however, replacement of chloride by bromide, nitrate, or iodide increases the membrane conductance (93).

Hutter and Noble (91, 93) have shown that, in spontaneously active sheep or dog Purkinje fibers, when chloride is replaced by nitrate, the spontaneous activity initially slows down and then accelerates to a steady frequency about twice the original frequency. On returning to the chloride solution a further transient increase in frequency occurs before the original frequency is attained. With a large impermeant anion such as methylsulfate replacing chloride (11) the reverse effects were obtained. On changing to the larger anion, there was an initial transient increase in frequency followed by a slowing in which the frequency eventually fell to values of 40 to 90% of that in chloride solution.

From their conductance measurements when methylsulfate replaces chloride, Hutter and Noble concluded that chloride ions carry from 20 to 30% of the total membrane current in the resting fiber. The simplest explanation is that chloride ions move through the cardiac muscle membrane, and therefore, in the absence of any active transport process the chloride equilibrium potential,  $E_{Cl}$ , should become equal to the resting potential in a quiescent preparation. In a constantly active cardiac muscle preparation the distribution of chloride ions would take on an equilibrium potential value intermediate between the maximum positive membrane potential and the maximum negative membrane potential. The exact value of  $E_{Cl}$  depends on the time course of the membrane potential variations and on the current-voltage function for the chloride conductance system. Hutter and Noble estimate that the chloride equilibrium potential is very close to the threshold membrane potential, so that during diastole when the membrane potential is more negative inside than  $E_{\rm Cl}$ , chloride ions would move out and contribute to the slow diastolic depolarization. On the other hand, during the action potential when the membrane potential is more positive inside than  $E_{\rm Cl}$ , chloride ions would move in and hasten repolarization.

With a more permeant anion such as nitrate, in the steady state situation with spontaneous activity, the nitrate equilibrium potential,  $E_{NO_3}$ , will also take on a value intermediate between the maximum positive and negative membrane potentials. The greater permeability of the membrane to nitrate than to chloride will tend to increase the rate of depolarization during diastole and thereby increase the frequency. During the action potential it will move more readily into the cell and thus hasten repolarization, producing a shorter action potential. The observations conform to this hypothesis. On the other hand, the larger impermeant anions will eliminate the anion movements during diastole and the action potential. In this case, the diastolic depolarization will proceed at a slower rate, producing a lower frequency of activity, and the action potential will be longer.

The *initial* changes in frequency can be explained on the basis of transient anion movements between steady state situations. When a large impermeant anion first replaces external chloride, the chloride ions inside the cells will move out and produce a depolarization current until they have been completely washed out of the cell. This will clearly increase the rate of firing of these cells until the cells become chloride-free. With the more permeant nitrate anion replacing chloride, the inward movement of nitrate will exceed the outward movement of chloride and thus produce a transient hyperpolarization. This should decrease the rate of firing of the cells until the nitrate gradually replaces the chloride inside the cells.

Carmeliet (26, 28) has in many respects obtained similar results. Of particular interest is his finding that in potassium-free solutions the permeant anions can have large effects. This is related to the fact that in potassium-free media the K permeability is decreased (27). Thus he found that while nitrate ions produce little hyperpolarization when normal potassium concentrations are present, they produce a hyperpolarization of more than 20 mV when the membrane is first depolarized by K-free solutions. When fibers are equilibrated in media containing the relatively impermeant acetylglycinate anion, K-free solutions also cause depolarization and readmission of K-free solutions containing chloride now causes a large hyperpolarization. On the basis of his results, Carmeliet suggested that the Purkinje fiber membrane is permeable to the anions in the series  $P_{NO_4} > P_{C1} > P_{acetylglycinate}$ .

De Mello (41) has also presented evidence that chloride ions contribute appreciably to the total membrane conductance of atrial muscle fibers, Purkinje fibers, and fibers of the S-A nodal pacemaker in rabbits. Of particular interest is his finding that the S-A nodal fibers seem to be especially sensitive to chloride

movements. For example, he finds that the transient depolarization when sucrose replaces chloride is greater in fibers of the S-A node than in fibers from atrial muscle. Since he found the internal chloride concentration in pacemaker cells was 37 mM as compared with 2.2 mM in atrial muscle fibers, removal of the external chloride should produce a larger loss of chloride from the nodal fibers and hence cause a greater depolarization in these fibers provided the total membrane conductance is about the same for both the nodal and atrial fibers. De Mello also demonstrated an appreciable fall of the internal chloride concentration when the S-A node was placed in low chloride solutions. His other findings are largely compatible with those of Hutter, Noble, and Carmeliet.

Sekul and Holland (156) have estimated the unidirectional fluxes of chloride using  $Cl^{36}$  in spontaneously beating atrial preparations. Both the influx and efflux of  $Cl^{36}$  are considerably increased when the preparations are rapidly stimulated and when fibrillation is induced by acetylcholine.

Feigen and his associates (142, 143) have studied the effect of nitrate substitution for chloride in contracting guinea pig atria stimulated electrically at rates of 3 to 4 per second. With high concentrations of nitrate they find a reduction in the magnitudes of the resting potential and the action potential, and the rate of initial depolarization of the action potential. With only partial nitrate replacement for chloride there was no decline in the resting potential. The amplitude of contraction decreased in proportion to the amount of nitrate used for replacement. In the presence of nitrate there was an increase in internal sodium concentration and an equal decrease in internal potassium concentration. These findings on internal concentrations are based on calculations in which the inulin space is equated to the extracellular space. Page (139) has shown that the inulin space in cat papillary muscle is much less than the mannitol space, although mannitol behaves osmotically as if it does not enter the cell. If the inulin does not distribute itself throughout the extracellular space in guinea pig also, then the experimental findings of Feigen are not easily evaluated.

### VI. SMOOTH MUSCLE

A considerable amount of effort in recent years has been placed in studying smooth muscle of various sorts. Two excellent reviews covering the physiology and pharmacology of smooth muscle have recently appeared (23, 48). The reader is referred to these for summaries on the general physiology of smooth muscle.

Concerning the internal concentration of chloride, most workers assume that the chloride is distributed passively across the membranes of smooth muscle (39) while others, assuming the inulin space to be equal to the extracellular space, find that the internal chloride concentration is greater than predicted for passive distribution (104, 106). The uncertainties in the determination of the extracellular space, however, make it hazardous to draw any definite conclusions from this latter finding. Another factor complicating this issue is that most smooth muscle preparations either are not quiescent or do not have stable membrane potentials.

Membrane potential changes associated with alterations of the extracellular chloride concentrations indicate that the chloride conductance contributes significantly to the total membrane conductance of smooth muscle. Thus, when external chloride is replaced by the larger impermeant  $SO_4^-$  and  $C_2H_5SO_3^-$  ions there is a transient depolarization in the muscle cells of the taenia coli (24, 88, 118). The ethanesulfonate anion has been shown to be impermeant in a number of different muscle tissues (67). After a short period in the altered solution the membrane potential does not completely return to normal values. The initial depolarization produced when various foreign anions replace chloride is in the order SO<sub>4</sub> > Br<sup>-</sup> > NO<sub>3</sub>  $\geq$  I<sup>-</sup>. With nitrate and iodide solutions, after 20 to 30 minutes the membrane potential is more negative inside than it is in chloride media for any given external potassium concentration. Kuriyama (118) found that during the initial depolarization there was an increase in the rate of spontaneous discharge. An interesting observation was that even though the sulfate depolarization was greater than that associated with either nitrate or iodide, the maximum frequency of spike discharge was greater for the latter ions. Although it is possible that the greater depolarization produced by sulfate may make the fibers somewhat less excitable by inactivation of the spike generating system, it is also possible that the threshold for firing is decreased in nitrate and iodide. That the latter possibility may also contribute to this phenomenon is seen in the records of Kuriyama (118), in which the frequency of discharge in the nitrate solutions is considerably larger than in chloride solutions at times when the membrane potential is more negative inside in the presence of nitrate. Eventually the spike discharge ceases in nitrate solutions when the membrane becomes more hyperpolarized.

When preparations are driven electrically, Axelsson (8) has found that replacement of chloride with nitrate results in repetitive firing to a single stimulus when in chloride solution each stimulus gave only one action potential. When the frequency of spike discharge was made high by either direct electrical stimulation or by increasing the temperature, an increase in tension development was observed without any further change in frequency of firing when nitrate replaced chloride. Under these conditions the repolarization phase of the spike was lengthened.

Similar increases in membrane activity and tension have also been observed in uterine muscle and other smooth muscles (36, 105) when nitrate replaces chloride. In guinea pig ileum replacement of chloride by ethanesulfonate induces tonic contractions (66) while replacement of chloride by methylsulfate does not have this effect (120). The reason for this difference is not understood.

#### VII. INVERTEBRATE MUSCLE

Boistel and Fatt (19), as well as Reuben *et al.* (68, 146), have presented evidence that crayfish muscle fibers are permeable to chloride ions. Both groups have observed depolarizations, similar to those found with frog skeletal muscle, when an impermeable anion was substituted for external chloride. Boistel and Fatt (19) showed that  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) increased the membrane conductance in the presence of external chloride more than in its absence. GABA also increased the depolarization associated with chloride-free solution. From

these findings it can be inferred that GABA increases the membrane permeability to chloride. In a study of the effects of various drugs on the magnitude and time course of the membrane potential changes caused by chloride-deficient solutions, Reuben *et al.* (68, 146) have confirmed these results with GABA and in addition have shown that the chloride permeability of the membrane is decreased by picrotoxin. They ascribed these effects to actions on the nonsynaptic membranes (68).

In a more recent publication (65), this group finds that there is formation of vesicles in the transverse tubular system of the sarcoplasmic reticulum whenever the conditions are such as to produce exit of KCl. They conclude that the transverse tubules are permeable almost exclusively to chloride.

### VIII. NERVE

## A. Giant axons of Loligo<sup>1</sup>

Soon after the rediscovery of the giant axons in cephalopods measurements were made on the electrolyte content of the axoplasm in these fibers. The internal chloride content is relatively high in axons when measured one or more hours after death of the animal. For Loligo pealii, Bear and Schmitt (12) found an internal chloride concentration of 130 mM. After their initial report, the value for internal chloride has been redetermined and found to be 88 mM by Steinbach (161), 140 mM by Koechlin (112), and 151 mM by Deffner (40). For Loligo forbesi, the internal chloride concentration has been reported to be 109 mM by Webb and Young (171), 83 mM by Keynes and Lewis (111), and 125 mM by Keynes (110). Steinbach's early report (161) indicated that in freshly dissected squid giant axons the internal chloride concentration was 42 mM and that this increased rapidly during the first half hour and then remained nearly constant at 88 mM. Hodgkin, in his early review (81), pointed out that the higher value for chloride is not compatible with electrochemical equilibrium for isolated axons with membrane potentials of -50 to -60 mV. On the other hand, if one takes the lower value and allows for a short dissection time, then the value in vivo could be close to 30 mM. This extrapolated value agrees reasonably with a passive distribution for chloride in intact axons whose membrane potentials range from about -68 to -77 mV (82, 131). However, recent experiments by Keynes (108, 109, 110) have not confirmed the low values of Steinbach. Axoplasm extruded from axons in situ soon after live squid were caught had internal chloride concentrations close to 100 mmol/kg axoplasm.

In isolated axons, Mauro (130), using Ag-AgCl electrodes to measure the transmembrane potential, found that the inside potential was still -35 mV. Keynes (110), using a similar technique, has also shown that the activity coefficient for chloride in extruded axoplasm is not appreciably different from what it is in sea water. From these findings it appears that chloride is not appreciably bound

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> To facilitate comparison, values in the literature not reported in units of mmol/kg of water have been converted to these units by using the value of 865 g of water/kg of axoplasm given by Koechlin (112).

inside the axons. Thus the electrochemical potential for chloride is higher inside than outside the axon and the chloride is not in equilibrium.

Measurements on unidirectional chloride fluxes have been made by several investigators. For Loligo pealii, Shanes and Berman (158) reported that the value for the chloride influx measured with Cl<sup>36</sup> is somewhere between the limits of 14 and 31 pmol/cm<sup>2</sup> sec. For Loligo forbesi, the first determinations of Caldwell and Keynes (25) gave 13 pmol/cm<sup>2</sup> sec for the chloride influx; the more recent results of Keynes (110) give an average influx of 23 pmol/cm<sup>2</sup> sec. For both species, the rate constant for loss of Cl<sup>36</sup> injected into the axoplasm varies from 0.0002 min<sup>-1</sup> to 0.001 min<sup>-1</sup> (25, 110, 167). Taking a mean value of 0.0006 min<sup>-1</sup> for the efflux rate constant and the measured internal chloride concentration, the estimated absolute efflux is about 21 pmol/cm<sup>2</sup> sec (110). This value is close to the estimated influx for chloride.

After poisoning axons for two hours with 0.2 mM dinitrophenol, Keynes found that the influx was reduced by 58 % while the efflux was not much altered. Unfortunately, similar experiments using 2 mM cyanide gave such variable results that they could be consistent with cyanide having either the same effect as dinitrophenol or no effect at all. Ouabain at a concentration of 0.01 mM had no effect on the chloride influx. On the basis of the above findings Keynes (110) concluded that the high internal chloride concentration "results from the operation of a mechanism for uphill inward transport of chloride." If this conclusion is correct, it is extremely interesting that an animal tissue with a high plasma chloride should have an active transport system for chloride which is inwardly directed.

On the basis of these chloride flux measurements, the calculated chloride conductance can account for only a small fraction (about 0.2) of the resting leakage conductance found in isolated giant squid axons. Baker *et al.* (10) have also concluded that ions other than chloride must contribute to the leakage current since there was only a relatively small difference between the resting potential of axons perfused with isotonic KCl and those perfused with isotonic K<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>.

## B. Crustacean nerve

In nonmyelinated fibers from the leg nerve of the spider crab, Wilbrandt (172) found by measuring changes in demarcation potential that there was a small hyperpolarization when  $NO_3^-$  or SCN<sup>-</sup> replaced chloride. Lactate and pyruvate also cause a small hyperpolarization. Although this effect suggests that these anions are somewhat more permeant than chloride, other interpretations are possible.

## C. Amphibian myelinated nerve

Adequate measurement of the internal chloride concentration in myelinated fibers is not presently available. There is, however, some indirect evidence to show that the membrane of the frog node is permeable to chloride and that chloride is present in the axoplasm. The early observation of Straub (165) that there is a membrane depolarization when chloride is replaced by sulfate or phosphate

is insufficient evidence on which to base a claim for chloride movement because no provision was taken to keep the ionized calcium concentration constant. Schmidt and Stämpfli (153) have shown that calcium deprivation causes marked depolarization in frog myelinated fibers. In the solutions used by Straub the sulfate and phosphate should have lowered the ionized calcium considerably. In other experiments (154), changes in membrane potential were measured when saccharose or glucose replaced the external NaCl; these experiments, too, are, for several reasons, difficult to use for assessing chloride movement. The most significant reason is that the reduction in the resting inward leakage of sodium on removal of external sodium more than compensates for the small increase in chloride leakage on removal of external chloride; the net effect is a hyperpolarization of the membrane. The most direct experiments on the effect of chloride removal are those reported by Frankenhaeuser (58), in which he observed that the membrane depolarized by a few millivolts when chloride was replaced by the large methylsulfate anion. Since methylsulfate does not alter the ionized calcium (92), this finding suggests that the membrane is slightly permeable to chloride in the resting condition.

In early work, in which changes in demarcation potentials were measured, there was no detectable change in the resting potential when foreign monovalent ions were substituted for chloride (80, 133). Straub (165) found no significant difference in the membrane potential when nitrate replaced chloride. On the other hand, Hashimura and Osa (73) find that  $NO_3^-$  and  $SCN^-$  replacement of chloride produces a small hyperpolarization. The hyperpolarization which they measured was in both cases greater than the calculated junction potential which was present in their measuring system. Although this might indicate that these ions are slightly more permeant than chloride, the effects, discussed below, of  $NO_3^-$  and  $SCN^-$  on action potentials altered by cobalt suggest another explanation. Since the frog nerve membrane is so sensitive to the changes in the resting sodium leakage, and since these authors present indirect evidence that  $NO_3^-$  and  $SCN^-$  produce some inactivation of the sodium conductance system it is possible that these anions reduce the resting sodium conductance and thereby produce a small hyperpolarization.

In these experiments of Hashimura and Osa, the action potential, in untreated fibers, is somewhat reduced in height when  $NO_3^-$  and  $SCN^-$  replace chloride. The duration of the action potential, however, is not appreciably altered. In line with this observation, Frankenhaeuser (58) has shown, using the voltage clamp technique, that the delayed currents associated with a reduction of the membrane potential are not changed when chloride was replaced by methylsulfate or isethionate ions. Since anodal polarization can restore the height of the action potential in  $NO_3^-$  and  $SCN^-$  solutions, the effects can be attributed to a partial inactivation of the sodium conductance system. With addition of cobalt, the action potential is prolonged and this prolongation is increased when  $NO_3^-$  and  $SCN^-$  replace chloride. This finding suggests that chloride ions may aid in the repolarization phase of the action potential in cobalt-treated fibers and that  $NO_3^-$  and  $SCN^$ are less permeant than chloride. In the cobalt-treated fibers, the height of the action potential is also reduced in solutions containing  $NO_3^-$  and  $SCN^-$  and can

be restored by anodal polarization. This observation, again, suggests a partial inactivation of the sodium conductance system.

These findings can help to rationalize the variable results reported for the effects on excitability in frog nerve when foreign anions replace chloride. Some time ago, Höber and Strohe (80) reported that the electrical excitability was slightly increased immediately after Br-, NO3, or I- replaced chloride in the bathing solution. After a short time, the excitability decreased in the presence of these anions. With SCN<sup>-</sup> there was either an immediate decrease in excitability or no initial effect followed by a slow decrease in excitability. On the other hand, Hashimura and Osa report that the threshold potential for firing the action potential is closer to the resting potential in solutions with  $NO_3^-$  or SCN<sup>-</sup> and the fibers are more excitable. If chloride contributes to the resting membrane conductance and both  $NO_3^-$  and  $SCN^-$  are less permeant than Cl<sup>-</sup>, and if both  $NO_3^$ and SCN<sup>-</sup> reduce the resting sodium permeability and partially inactivate the sodium conductance system, then the above findings can be explained. In some cases, the decrease in membrane conductance when  $NO_3^-$  or SCN<sup>-</sup> replaces chloride might more than compensate for the effects on the sodium conductance system and thereby decrease the threshold. Such may be the case with the fibers of Hashimura and Osa, since the action potential in their fibers does not increase under anodal polarization and hence the sodium conductance is probably fully activated in the resting condition. However, in nerves which initially may have a somewhat inactivated sodium conductance system, further inactivation of the sodium conductance by  $NO_3^-$  and  $SCN^-$  could make the fibers less excitable despite a decrease in the membrane conductance associated with anion substitution for chloride. The time variation in excitability noted by Höber and Strohe can be accounted for if the effect on anion permeability comes on more rapidly than does the effect on the inactivation of the sodium conductance system.

## IX. CHEMORECEPTORS

From the work of Beidler (13) and others (54, 176) the ability to stimulate those chemoreceptors which have low thresholds to solutions containing salts is determined by the cation portion of the salt. There are no significant differences among the anions in their stimulating action on chemoreceptors of rats and frogs. Kusano and Sato (119) have also shown that the response pattern or the threshold to various solutions does not change during the first 30 minutes after replacing chloride by foreign anions in solutions bathing a frog tongue. However, after 30 to 60 minutes the thresholds to the various stimulating solutions begin to increase and the magnitude of response begins to decrease; eventually the sensitivity to all solutions is abolished. The depressing action of the anions was  $SCN^- > NO_3^- > I^- > Br^-$ . For the "water" receptors the sequence of depressing action was reversed. These effects are irreversible.

### X. SYNAPTIC TRANSMISSION

There are several excellent reviews which summarize experimental work on the mechanisms involved in excitation and inhibition in various synaptic structures (44, 116). Excitation of postsynaptic membranes, whether by chemical

transmitters or by electrical coupling, involves predominantly cation permeability mechanisms. On the other hand, some of the inhibitory mechanisms involve, at least in part, alterations in anion permeability in the postsynaptic membrane. For the purposes of this review, the latter mechanisms will be briefly discussed. Curtis (38) has recently provided a summary of the pharmacology of inhibition.

When inhibition by chemical transmitters directly involves the postsynaptic membrane, it is manifested by an increase in the postsynaptic membrane conductance (44, 116). When there is a change in the postsynaptic membrane potential, it may be of either sign and is generally only a few millivolts in magnitude. In all cases, if the membrane is at first sufficiently hyperpolarized by passing current through the membrane a depolarization is produced by inhibitory impulses; if the membrane is initially depolarized by current a hyperpolarization is produced by inhibitory impulses. Thus, there is a definite transmembrane potential to which the inhibitory volley drives the postsynaptic membrane; this potential is generally rather close to the resting membrane potential. Since there is an increase in membrane conductance during inhibition, this means that the postsynaptic membrane becomes more permeable to one or more ions. Because the potential to which the membrane is driven is rather close to its resting value, this implies that the ion or ions involved have equilibrium potentials close to the resting transmembrane potential. The two ions which are distributed between the extracellular and intracellular phases with the proper chemical gradients and in sufficiently large concentrations are potassium and chloride. In general, where chemical transmitters are involved it has been found that the postsynaptic membranes become more permeable to either one or both of these ions during inhibitory action. To test whether chloride ions are involved, either the extracellular or the intracellular chloride concentration is altered and observations are made to see if the transmembrane potential associated with an inhibitory volley follows the equilibrium potential for the chloride ions.

It was first shown by Coombs et al. (35) that electrophoretic injection of chloride ions into motoneurons causes the normally small hyperpolarization response of the inhibitory postsynaptic potential to change to a depolarizing response. Similar results have been obtained in other cells of the central nervous system. Electrophoretic injection of another foreign anion such as Br-, NO<sub>3</sub> or SCNproduces the same effect as does injection of Cl<sup>-</sup> ions. Electrophoretic injection of larger anions like sulfate or phosphate does not alter the hyperpolarizing response of the inhibitory postsynaptic potential. These early observations have been repeated and many other anions have been tested (6, 98). When anions whose diameters in the hydrated state are greater than 1.32 times the diameter of hydrated potassium ions are injected into the motoneuron cells, no observable changes in inhibitory postsynaptic potential was recorded. Eccles (44) has interpreted these findings to mean "that the inhibitory transmitter has converted the specific inhibitory patches to a sieve-like membrane having pores of a precisely standardized size." For the evidence that the motoneuron also becomes more permeable to K during the inhibitory process, the reader is referred to the review of Eccles (44).

Inhibition in the crustacean stretch receptor cell seems to involve an increase in the postsynaptic membrane permeability to both potassium and chloride since the inhibitory equilibrium potential follows alterations in both the chloride and potassium equilibrium potentials, induced by altering the external potassium and chloride concentrations (45, 70, 117).

Inhibition via alterations in the postsynaptic membrane in crustacean muscle fibers seems to involve an increase in the membrane permeability primarily to chloride, since the inhibitory equilibrium potential follows the changes in chloride equilibrium potential (19, 69) but is not significantly altered by changes in the potassium equilibrium potential (19, 43).

Furukawa and Furshpan (59) have shown that there are two types of inhibition which act upon the Mauthner cell of the goldfish. One type is the result of certain extracellular potential changes which passively hyperpolarize the axon-hillock region of the Mauthner neuron. Another type of inhibition involves the increase of the conductance in the postsynaptic membrane for ions which are close to electrochemical equilibrium at the resting membrane potential. These authors, as well as Asada (7), have shown that the inhibitory conductance change is due to an increase in the postsynaptic membrane permeability to chloride ions. Asada also injected various other anions into the Mauthner cell and on the basis of the effects on the inhibitory postsynaptic potential found essentially the same permeability characteristics as others have found for the cat spinal motoneurons. The activated inhibitory postsynaptic membrane is permeable to Br<sup>-</sup>, Cl<sup>-</sup>, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, SCN-, ClO<sub>3</sub> and HCOO-, and nonpermeable to HS-, BrO<sub>3</sub>, HSO<sub>3</sub>, HCO<sub>3</sub>, CH<sub>3</sub>COO<sup>-</sup>, SO<sub>4</sub>, and other large anions. He also presents evidence which suggests that potassium ions do not play a major role in this inhibitory conductance increase.

## XI. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

There is now a considerable amount of evidence, both direct and indirect, that most excitable cells are permeable to chloride ions. The relative permeability to chloride varies from cell to cell and consequently its physiological significance varies. Where the relative permeability to chloride is low, as for example in giant squid axons, chloride ions play a minor role in the electrical events associated with activity. Where the relative permeability is high, as in skeletal muscle and to a lesser extent in cardiac muscle, chloride ions play a significant role in the electrical events during activity. In the latter situation, the contribution of currents caused by chloride is less important when the sodium and potassium currents are high during certain phases of activity.

In the absence of active transport, the actual concentration of chloride inside the cell is a function of the membrane permeability to chloride, the chloride concentration outside the cell, and the behavior of the membrane potential as a function of time. In cells which are either periodically or continually active, the instantaneous internal chloride concentration is related to the past history of the cell rather than to the momentary or even short-term average membrane potential. For cells in a steady state of constant activity the internal chloride concentration is a function of the steady state. The actual concentration depends on

precise temporal behavior of the membrane potential and the chloride permeability of the membrane. The chloride equilibrium potential is somewhere between the limits set by the maximum and minimum values of the membrane potential during activity. In quiescent cells where the membrane potential remains constant, and in the absence of active transport, the chloride equilibrium potential should assume a value equal to the membrane potential. To a first approximation this seems to be the case in skeletal striated muscle. On the other hand, this appears not to be the case in squid giant axon where an inwardly directed pump for chloride ions appears to be present. The influence of foreign anions in the lyotropic series on the electrical events in excitable cells is largely ascribable to either 1) the fact that their permeance is different from that of chloride and consequently they contribute a different amount of anion current, or 2) the fact that they alter the passage of chloride through the membrane, or both of these mechanisms. The effects that foreign anions have on the sodium conductance seem to produce minor consequences.

In the case of contractile tissues, the evidence indicates that there is a change in the ability of the membrane potential to control the contractile process when other anions replace chloride in the external medium. To the extent that one can generalize to other processes controlled by the membrane potential, it is tempting to suppose that neurosecretion and other processes may be altered by changes in the external anion composition. To recognize such analogies and to pursue them experimentally might prove fruitful in furthering our understanding of the role that chloride ions play in the functioning of excitable cells.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The author wishes to thank Dr. J. W. Moore and Dr. G. Acheson for reading the manuscript and for helpful suggestions. The author is also indebted to Mrs. L. Munday and Mrs. G. Yates for invaluable assistance with the manuscript.

#### REFERENCES

- ADRIAN, R. H.: The effect of internal and external potassium concentration on the membrane potential of frog muscle. J. Physiol. 133: 631-658, 1956.
- ADRIAN, R. H.: Potassium chloride movement and the membrane potential of frog muscle. J. Physiol. 151: 154-185, 1960.
- ADRIAN, R. H.: Internal chloride concentration and chloride efflux of frog muscle. J. Physiol. 156: 623-632, 1961.
   ADRIAN, R. H. AND FREYGANG, W. H.: The potassium and chloride conductance of frog muscle membrane. J. Physiol. 163: 61-103, 1962.
- ADRIAN, R. H. AND FREYGANG, W. H.: Potassium conductance of frog muscle membrane under controlled voltage. J. Physiol. 163: 104-114, 1962.
- ARAKI, T., ITO, M. AND OSCARSSON, O.: Anionic permeability of the inhibitory postsynaptic membrane of motoneurones. Nature, Lond. 189: 65, 1961.
- ABADA, Y.: Effects of intracellularly injected anions on the Mauthner cells of goldfish. Jap. J. Physiol. 13: 583-598, 1963.
- AXELSSON, J.: The effect of nitrate on electrical and mechanical activity of smooth muscle. J. Physiol. 155: 9-10P, 1961.
- AXELSSON, J. AND THESLEFF, S.: Activation of the contractile mechanism in striated muscle. Acta physiol. scand. 44: 55-66, 1958.
- BAKER, P. F., HODGKIN, A. L. AND SHAW, T. I.: The effects of changes in internal ionic concentrations on the electrical properties of perfused giant axons. J. Physiol. 164: 355-374, 1962.
- 11. BAUER, H., LÜLLMANN, H. AND RICHTER, M.: Die Aufnahme von Methylsulfat-Ionen in die Vorhofsmuskulatur von Meerschweinchen. Pflüg. Arch. ges. Physiol. 277: 48-53, 1963.
- 12. BEAR, R. S. AND SCHMITT, F. O.: Electrolytes in the axoplasm of the giant nerve fibers of the squid. J. cell. comp. Physiol. 14: 205-215, 1939.

- 13. BEIDLER, L. M.: Properties of chemoreceptors of tongue of rat. J. Neurophysiol. 16: 595-607, 1953.
- 14. BENOIT, P. H. AND CORABOEUF, E.: Modifications électrotoniques du potentiel consécutif de la fibre musculaire striée. C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 149: 1435-1438, 1955.
- BENOIT, P. H., ETZENSPERGER, J. AND SANTINELLI, J.: Renforcement de la secousse musculaire sous l'action de l'ion sulfocyanate. J. Physiol., Paris 49: 46-49, 1957.
- BIANCHI, C. P.: Calcium movement in striated muscle during contraction and contracture. In: Biophysics of Physiological and Pharmacological Actions, ed. by A. M. Shanes, pp. 281-292. Amer. Ass. Advanc. Sci., Washington, 1961.
- BIEDERMANN, W.: Beiträge zur allgemeinen Nerven- und Muskelphysiologie. IV. Mittheilung. Über die durch chemische Veränderung durch den electrischen Strom. Wien. Akad. Sitzungsber. III. Abt. 80: 367-410, 1879.
- BIEDERMANN, W.: Beiträge zur allgemeinen Nerven- und Muskelphysiologie. VI. Mittheilung. Über rhythmische, durch chemische Reizung bedingte Contractionen quergestreifter Muskeln. Wien. Akad. Sitzungsber. III. Abt. 82: 257-275, 1880.
- 19. BOISTEL, J. AND FATT, P.: Membrane permeability change during inhibitory transmitter action in crustacean muscle. J. Physiol. 144: 176-191, 1958.
- BOYLE, P. J. AND CONWAY, E. J.: Potassium accumulation in muscle and associated changes. J. Physiol. 100: 1-63, 1941.
- BRADY, A. J. AND WOODBURY, J. W.: The sodium-potassium hypothesis as the basis of electrical activity in frog ventricle. J. Physiol. 154: 385-407, 1960.
- 22. BÜLBRING, E., HOLMAN, M. AND LÜLLMANN, H.: Effects of calcium deficiency on striated muscle of the frog. J. Physiol. 133: 101-117, 1956.
- BURNSTOCK, G., HOLMAN, M. E. AND PROSSER, C. L.: Electrophysiology of smooth muscle. Physiol. Rev. 43: 482-527, 1963.
- 24. BURNSTOCK, G. AND STRAUB, R. W.: A method for studying the effects of ions and drugs on the resting and action potentials in smooth muscle with external electrodes. J. Physiol. 140: 156-167, 1958.
- CALDWELL, P. C. AND KEYNES, R. D.: The permeability of the squid giant axon to radioactive potassium and chloride ions. J. Physiol. 154: 177-189, 1960.
- 26. CARMELLET, E.: Effets de la substitution des ions chlorure sur le potentiel de membrane des fibres de Purkinje. Helv. physiol. acta 17: C18, 1959.
- CARMELIET, E.: L'influence de la concentration extracellulaire du K sur la perméabilité de la membrane des fibres de Purkinje de mouton pour les ions <sup>42</sup>K. Helv. physiol. acta 18: C15-C16, 1960.
- CARMELIET, E. E.: Chloride ions and the membrane potential of Purkinje fibres. J. Physiol. 156: 375-388, 1961.
   CHAO, I.: The influence of neutral sodium-salt solutions on chemical stimulation. Amer. J. Physiol. 109: 550-560, 1934.
- CHAO, I.: The cold stimulation and the influence of neutral sodium-salt solutions on the cold stimulation. Amer. J. Physiol. 109: 561-568, 1934.
- CHAO, I.: Action of electrolytes on electrical stimulation of skeletal muscle. J. cell. comp. Physiol. 6: 1-20, 1935.
   CHAO, I. AND CHEN, K.: Osmotic properties of isolated amphibian skeletal muscle. Chin. J. Physiol. 11: 253-270, 1937.
- CONWAY, E. J. AND FITZGERALD, O.: Diffusion relations of urea, inulin and chloride in some mammalian tissues. J. Physiol. 101: 86-105, 1942.
- CONWAY, E. J. AND MOORE, P. T.: Cation and anion permeability constants for muscle fibre membrane. Nature, Lond. 156: 170-171, 1945.
- COOMBS, J. S., ECCLES, J. C. AND FATT, P.: The specific ionic conductance and the ionic movement across the motoneuronal membrane that produce the inhibitory postsynaptic potential. J. Physiol. 130: 326-373, 1955.
- CBAPO, I. A. AND KURIYAMA, H. A.: Effects of ions and drugs on cell membrane activity and tension in the postpartum rat myometrium. J. Physiol. 165: 575-592, 1963.
- 37. CURTIS, B. A.: Some effects of Ca-free choline-Ringer solution on frog skeletal muscles. J. Physiol. 166: 75-86, 1963.
- CURTIS, D. R.: The pharmacology of central and peripheral inhibition. Pharmacol. Rev. 15: 333-364, 1963.
   DANIEL, E. E. AND ROBINSON, K.: The secretion of sodium and uptake of potassium by isolated uterine seg-
- ments made sodium-rich. J. Physiol. 154: 421-444, 1960.
  40. DEFFNER, G. G. J.: The dialyzable free organic constituents of squid blood; a comparison with nerve axoplasm. Biochim. biophys. acta 47: 378-388, 1961.
- DE MELLO, W. C.: Role of chloride ions in cardiac action and pacemaker potentials. Amer. J. Physiol. 205: 567-575, 1963.
- DESMEDT, J. E.: Electrical activity and intracellular sodium concentration in frog muscle. J. Physiol. 121: 191-205, 1953.
- DUDEL, J. AND KUFFLER, S. W.: Presynaptic inhibition at the crayfish neuromuscular junction. J. Physiol. 155: 543-562, 1961.
- 44. ECCLES, J. C.: The mechanism of synaptic transmission. Ergebn. Physiol. 51: 299-430, 1961.
- EDWARDS, C., AND HAGIWARA, S.: Potassium ions and the inhibition process in the crayfish stretch receptor. J. gen. Physiol. 43: 315-321, 1959.
- EDWARDS, C., HARRIS, E. J. AND NISHIE, K.: The exchange of frog muscle Na<sup>+</sup> and K<sup>+</sup> in the presence of anions Br<sup>-</sup>, NO<sub>5</sub>, I<sup>-</sup> and CNS<sup>-</sup>. J. Physiol. 135: 560-566, 1957.
- 47. EDSALL, J. T. AND WYMAN, J.: Biophysical Chemistry, vol. 1. Academic Press, New York, 1958.
- 48. EICHNA, L. W., ED.: Vascular Smooth Muscle. Physiol. Rev. 42: Supplement #5, 1962.
- ETZENSPERGER, J. AND BRETONNEAU, Y.: Potentiel consécutif et durée de l'état actif de la fibre musculaire striée. Action des ions NO<sub>7</sub>, Br<sup>-</sup> et I<sup>-</sup>. C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 150: 1777-1781, 1956.

- FALK, G.: Electrical activity of skeletal muscle. Its relation to the active state. In: Biophysics of Physiological and Pharmacological Actions, ed. by A. M. Shanes, pp. 259-279. Amer. Ass. Advanc. Sci., Washington, 1961.
- FALK, G. AND LANDA, J. F.: Prolonged response of skeletal muscle in the absence of penetrating anions. Amer. J. Physiol. 198: 289-299, 1960.
- FALK, G. AND LANDA, J. F.: Effects of potassium on frog skeletal muscle in a chloride-deficient medium. Amer. J. Physiol. 198: 1225–1231, 1960.
- 53. FENN, W.: Electrolytes in muscle. Physiol. Rev. 16: 450-487, 1936.
- 54. FISHMAN, I. Y.: Single fiber gustatory impulses in rat and hamster. J. cell. comp. Physiol. 49: 319-334, 1957.
- 55. FRANK, G. H.: Negative after-potential of frog's skeletal muscle. J. Neurophysiol. 20: 602-614, 1957.
- 56. FRANK, G. H.: The influence of bromide ions on excitation-contraction coupling in frog's skeletal muscle. J. Physiol. 156: 35-48, 1961.
- 57. FRANK, G. H.: Role of extracellular calcium ions in excitation-contraction coupling in skeletal muscle. In: Biophysics of Physiological and Pharmacological Actions, ed. by A. M. Shanes, pp. 293-307. Amer. Ass. Advanc. Sci., Washington, 1961.
- FRANKENHAEUSER, B.: Potassium permeability in myelinated nerve fibers of Xenopus laevis. J. Physiol. 160: 54-61, 1962.
- FURUKAWA, T. AND FURSHPAN, E. J.: Two inhibitory mechanisms in the Mauthner neurons of goldfish. J. Neurophysiol. 26: 140-176, 1963.
- 60. GELLHORN, E.: Zur Kenntnis der Kaliumcontractur am quergestreiften und glatten Muskel. II. Zur Permeabilität der Muskulatur. Pflüg. Arch. ges. Physiol. 219: 761-788, 1928.
- 61. GELLHORN, E.: SCN contracture in skeletal muscle. Amer. J. Physiol. 96: 203-213, 1931.
- GELLHORN, E.: Further experiments on direct and indirect SCN-contracture. Amer. J. Physiol. 96: 477-483, 1931.
   GELLHORN, E.: Observations on the Hofmeister series in muscle. Protoplasma 16: 369-377, 1932.
- 64. GIEBISCH, G., KRAUPP, O., PILLAT, B. AND STORMANN, H.: Der Ersats von extracellulärem Natriumchlorid durch Natriumsulfat bzw. Saccharose und seine Wirkung auf die isoliert durchströmte Säugetiermuskulatur. Pflüg. Arch. ges. Physiol. 265: 220-236, 1957.
- GIRARDIER, L., REUBEN, J. P., BRANDT, P. W. AND GRUNDFEST, H.: Evidence for anion-permeelective membrane in crayfish muscle fibers and its possible role in excitation-contraction coupling. J. gen. Physiol. 47: 189-214, 1963.
- GOODFORD, P. J. AND ING, H. R.: The pharmacology of the ethane-sulfonate anion. Brit. J. Pharmacol. 14: 358-363, 1959.
- 67. GOODFORD, P. J. AND LÜLLMANN, H.: The uptake of ethanesulphonate-38 ions by muscular tissue. J. Physiol. 161: 54-61, 1962.
- GRUNDFEST, H.: Ionic transport across neural and non-neural membranes. In: Properties of Membranes and Diseases of the Nervous System, ed. by D. B. Tower, Springer Publ. Co., Inc., New York, 1962.
- GRUNDFEST, H., REUBEN, J. P. AND RICKLES, W. H., JR.: The electrophysiology and pharmacology of lobster neuromuscular synapses. J. gen. Physiol. 42: 1301-1323, 1959.
- HAGIWARA, S., KUSANO, K. AND SAITO, S.: Membrane changes in crayfish stretch receptor neuron during synaptic inhibition and under action of gamma aminobutyric acid. J. Neurophysiol. 23: 505-515, 1960.
- 71. HARRIS, E. J.: Anion interaction in frog muscle. J. Physiol. 141: 351-365, 1958.
- HARRIS, E. J. AND MARTINS-FERREIRA, H.: Membrane potentials in the muscles of the South American frog, Leptodactylus ocelatus. J. exp. Biol. 32: 539-546, 1955.
- 73. HASHIMURA, S. AND OSA, T.: The effect of nitrate and thiocyanate ions on the resting and action potentials of cobalt-treated single node of Ranvier. Jap. J. Physiol. 13: 219-230, 1963.
- HEGNAUER, A. H., FENN, W. O. AND COBB, D. M.: The cause of the rise in oxygen consumption of frog muscles in excess of potassium. J. cell. comp. Physiol. 4: 505-526, 1934.
- 75. HILL, A. V.: The abrupt transition from rest to activity in muscle. Proc. roy. Soc., ser. B 136: 399-420, 1949.
- HILL, A. V. AND HOWARTH, J. V.: The effect of potassium on the resting metabolism of the frog's sartorius. Proc. roy. Soc., ser. B 147: 21-43, 1957.
- 77. HILL, A. V. AND MACPHERSON, L.: The effect of nitrate, iodide and bromide on the duration of the active state in skeletal muscle. Proc. roy. Soc., ser. B 143: 81-102, 1954.
- HÖBER, R.: Über den Einfluss der Salze auf den Ruhestrom des Froschmuskels. Pflüg. Arch. ges. Physiol. 106: 599-635, 1905.
- HÖBER, R., ANDERSH, M., HÖBER, J. AND NEBEL, B.: The influence of organic electrolytes and non-electrolytes upon the membrane potentials of muscle and nerve. J. cell. comp. Physiol. 13: 195-218, 1939.
- HÖBEB, R. AND STROHE, H.: Über den Einfluss von Salzen auf die elektrotonischen Ströme, die Erregbarkeit und das Ruhepotential das Nerven. Pflüg. Arch. ges. Physiol. 222: 71-88, 1929.
- HODGKIN, A. L.: The ionic basis of electrical activity in nerve and muscle. Proc. Cambridge phil. Soc. 26: 339-409, 1951.
- HODGKIN, A. L.: Ionic movements and electrical activity in giant nerve fibres. Proc. roy. Soc., ser. B 148: 1-37, 1958.
- 83. HODGKIN, A. L. AND HOROWICZ, P.: Movement of Na and K in single muscle fibres. J. Physiol. 145: 405-432, 1959.
- HODGKIN, A. L. AND HOROWICZ, P.: The influence of potassium and chloride ions on the membrane potential of single muscle fibers. J. Physiol. 148: 127-160, 1959.
- 85. HODGKIN, A. L. AND HOROWICZ, P.: Potassium contractures in single muscle fibers. J. Physiol. 153: 386-403, 1960.
- HODGKIN, A. L. AND HOROWICZ, P.: The effect of nitrate and other anions on the mechanical response of single muscle fibers. J. Physiol. 153: 404-412, 1960.

- HOFMEISTER, F.: Zur Lehre von der Wirkung der Salze. Fünfte Mittheilung. Untersuchungen über den Quellungsvorgang. Arch. exp. Path. 27: 395-413, 1890.
- HOLMAN, M. E.: Membrane potentials recorded with high-resistance microelectrodes, and the effects of changes in ionic environment on the electrical and mechanical activity of the smooth muscle of the taenia coli of the guineapig. J. Physiol. 141: 464-488, 1958.
- HUBBARD, S. J.: The electrical constants and the component conductances of frog skeletal muscle after denervation. J. Physiol. 165: 443-456, 1963.
- HUTTER, O. F. AND PADSHA, S. M.: Effect of nitrate and other anions on membrane resistance of frog skeletal muscle. J. Physiol. 146: 117-132, 1959.
- HUTTER, O. F. AND NOBLE, D.: The influence of anions on impulse generation and membrane conductance in Purkinje and myocardial fibres. J. Physiol. 147: 16-17P, 1959.
- 92. HUTTER, O. F. AND NOBLE, D.: The chloride conductance of frog skeletal muscle. J. Physiol. 151: 89-102, 1960.
- 93. HUTTER, O. F. AND NOBLE, D.: Anion conductance of cardiac muscle. J. Physiol. 157: 335-350, 1961.
- HUXLEY, A. F.: Electrical processes in nerve conduction. In: Ion Transport across Membranes, ed. by H. T. Clarke and D. Nachmanschn, pp. 23-34. Academic Press, New York, 1954.
   HUXLEY, A. F.: Local activation of muscle. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 81: 446-452, 1959.
- 50. HUXLEY, A. F.: Local activation of muscle. Ann. N. I. Acad. Sci. 81: 440-402, 1959.
- 96. HUXLEY, A. F. AND TAYLOB, R. E.: Local activation of striated muscle fibers. J. Physiol. 144: 426-441, 1958.
- HUXLEY, A. F. AND STRAUB, R. W.: Local activation and interfibrillar structures in striated muscle. J. Physiol. 143: 40P-41P, 1958.
- ITO, M., KOSTYUK, P. G. AND OSHIMA, T.: Further study on anion permeability of inhibitory postsynaptic membrane of cat motoneurones. J. Physiol. 164: 150-156, 1962.
- JOHNSON, E. A. AND TILLE, J.: Changes in polarisation resistance during the repolarisation phase of the rabbit ventricular action potential. Aust. J. exp. Biol. med. Sci. 38: 509-514, 1960.
- 100. JOHNSON, E. A., TILLE, J., WILSON, L. AND GEORGE, E. P.: Estimations of ionic conductances during the action potential in rabbit ventricle. In: Biophysics of Physiological and Pharmacological Actions, ed. by A. M. Shanes, pp. 529-540. Amer. Ass. Advanc. Sci., Washington, 1961.
- KAHN, A. J. AND SANDOW, A.: The potentiation of muscular contraction by the nitrate-ion. Science 112: 647-649, 1950.
- 102. KAHN, A. J. AND SANDOW, A.: Effects of anions on the mechanical responses of skeletal muscle. Fed. Proc. 10: 71, 1951.
- 103. KAHN, A. J. AND SANDOW, A.: Effects of bromide, nitrate, and iodide on response of skeletal muscle. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 62: 137-176, 1955.
- 104. KAO, C. Y.: Contents and distributions of potassium sodium and chloride in uterine smooth muscle. Amer. J. Physiol. 201: 717-722, 1961.
- 105. KAO, C. Y. AND GLUCK, S.: Contractile activities of mammalian smooth muscles in chloride deficient media. Amer. J. Physiol. 200: 658-666, 1961.
- 106. KAO, C. Y. AND SIEGMAN, M. J.: Nature of electrolyte exchange in isolated uterine smooth muscle. Amer. J. Physiol. 205: 674-680, 1963.
- 107. KATZ, B.: Les constantes électriques de la membrane du muscle. Arch. Sci. physiol. 3: 285-300, 1949.
- 108. KEYNES, R. D.: The chloride in squid axoplasm. Proc. XXII int. physiol. Congr. 1: 563-564, 1962.
- 109. KEYNES, R. D.: Active transport of chloride in the squid giant axon. J. Physiol. 163: 19-20P, 1962.
- 110. KEYNES, R. D.: Chloride in the squid giant axon. J. Physiol. 169: 690-705, 1963.
- KEYNES, R. D. AND LEWIS, P. R.: The sodium and potassium content of cephalopod nerve fibres. J. Physiol. 114: 151-182, 1951.
- 112. KOECHLIN, B. A.: On the chemical composition of the axoplasm of squid giant nerve fibers with particular reference to its ion pattern. J. biophys. biochem. Cytol. 1: 511-529, 1955.
- 113. KRAUPP, O., PILLAT, B., STORMANN, H. AND CLODI, P. H.: Der Einfluss des Ersatses der extracellulären Chlorionen durch Saccharose, bsw. SO<sub>4</sub>, NO<sub>7</sub> und Br-Ionen auf Kontraktionssustand und Spontan-Kaliumfreisetsung an der Säugetiermuskulatur. Biochem. Z. 329: 209-221, 1957.
- KUFFLER, S. W.: The relation of electric potential changes to contracture in skeletal muscle. J. Neurophysiol. 9: 367-377, 1946.
- 115. KUFFLER, S. W.: The two skeletal nerve-muscle systems in frog. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 220: 116-135, 1953.
- 116. KUFFLER, S. W.: Excitation and inhibition in single nerve cells. In Harvey Lectures, 1958-1959, pp. 176-218. Academic Press, Inc., New York, 1960.
- KUFFLER, S. W. AND EDWARDS, C.: Mechanism of gamma aminobutyric acid (GABA) action and its relation to synaptic inhibition. J. Neurophysiol. 21: 589-610, 1958.
- KURIYAMA, H.: The influence of potassium, sodium and chloride on the membrane potential of the smooth muscle of taenia coli. J. Physiol. 166: 15-28, 1963.
- 119. KUBANO, K. AND SATO, M.: The influence of anions on the activity of gustatory receptors. Jap. J. Physiol. 8: 254-274, 1958.
- 120. KUSCHINSKY, G., LÜLLMANN, H. AND HENKEL, W.: Über das Verhalten und Reaktionsvermögen von glatter Muskulatur und Hersmuskulatur in chloridfreiem Medium (Methylsulfat-Tyrode-Lösung). Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 240: 539-545, 1961.
- 121. LAMB, J. F.: The chloride content of rat auricle. J. Physiol. 157: 415-424, 1961.
- 122. LEVI, H. AND USEING, H. H.: The exchange of sodium and chloride ions across the fibre membrane of the isolated frog sartorius. Acta physiol. scand. 16: 232-249, 1948.
- 123. LILLE, R. S.: On the nature of chemical stimulation and on the influence of neutral sodium salts on various forms of chemical stimulation. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 7: 170-174, 1910.

- LILLIE, R. S., HINRICHS, M. A. AND KOSMAN, A. J.: The influence of neutral salts on the photodynamic stimulation of muscle. J. cell. comp. Physiol. 6: 487-501, 1935.
- 125. LUBIN, M.: The effect of iodide and thiocyanate ions on the mechanical and electrical properties of frog muscle. J. cell. comp. Physiol. 49: 335-349, 1957.
- 126. LÜLLMANN, H.: Das Verhalten normaler und denervierter Skeletmuskulatur in chloridfreiem Medium (Methylsulfat-Tyrodelösung). Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 240: 351-360, 1961.
- 127. LUTTGAU, H. C.: The action of calcium ions on potassium contractures of single muscle fibres. J. Physiol. 168: 679-697, 1963.
- MASHIMA, H. AND MATSUMURA, M.: Roles of external ions in the excitation-contraction coupling of frog skeletal muscle. Jap. J. Physiol. 12: 639-653, 1962.
- 129. MATSUSHIMA, T., FUJINO, M. AND NAGAI, T.: Effects of anomalous anions on the caffeine contracture. Jap. J. Physiol. 12: 106-112, 1962.
- MAURO, A.: Electrochemical potential difference of chloride ion in the giant squid axon-sea water system. Fed. Proc. 13: 96, 1954.
- 131. MOORE, J. W. AND COLE, K. S.: Resting and action potentials of the squid giant axon *in vivo*. J. gen. Physiol. 43: 961-970, 1960.
- NASTUK, W. L. AND HODGKIN, A. L.: The electrical activity of single muscle fibers. J. cell. comp. Physiol. 35: 39-73, 1950.
- 133. NETTER, H.: Über den Ruhestrom des Nerven und die Ionenpermeabilität seiner Hüllen. Pflüg. Arch. ges. Physiol. 218: 310-330, 1927.
- 134. NOBLE, D.: The voltage dependence of the cardiac membrane conductance. Biophys. J. 2: 381-393, 1962.
- NOBLE, D.: A modification of the Hodgkin-Huxley equations applicable to Purkinje fibre action and pacemaker potentials. J. Physiol. 160: 317-352, 1962.
- NOBLE, D. AND HALL, A. E.: The conditions for initiating "all-or-nothing" repolarization in cardiac muscle. Biophys. J. 3: 261-274, 1963.
- OVERTON, E.: Beiträge zur allgemeinen Muskel- und Nervenphysiologie. Pflüg. Arch. ges. Physiol. 92: 346–386, 1902.
- 138. PAGE, E.: Cat heart muscle in vitro. II. The steady state resting potential in quiescent papillary muscle. J. gen. Physiol. 46: 189-199, 1962.
- 139. PAGE, E.: Cat heart muscle in vitro. III. The extracellular space. J. gen. Physiol. 46: 201-213, 1962.
- 140. PEACHEY, L. D.: Structure and function of slow striated muscle. In: Biophysics of Physiological and Pharmacological Actions, ed. by A. M. Shanes, pp. 391-411. Amer. Ass. Advanc. Sci., Washington, 1961.
- PERSSON, A.: The negative after-potential of frog skeletal muscle fibers. Acta physiol. scand. 58: suppl. 205, 1963.
   PETERSON, N. W. AND FEIGEN, G. A.: Effect of [NOs] on atrial action potentials and contraction as modified by [Na] and [Ca]. Amer. J. Physiol. 202: 950-956, 1962.
- 143. PETERSON, N. S. AND FEIGEN, G. A.: Intracellular electrolyte patterns and transmembrane potentials of isolated atria. Amer. J. Physiol. 205: 1279-1284, 1963.
- 144. PORTER, K. R. AND PALADE, G. E.: Studies on the endoplasmic reticulum. III. Its form and distribution in striated muscle cells. J. biophys. biochem. Cytol. 3: 269-300, 1957.
- 145. RAMBEY, R. W. AND STREET, S. F.: The alpha excitability of the local and propagated mechanical response in isolated single muscle fibers. J. cell. comp. Physiol. 12: 361-378, 1938.
- 146. REUBEN, J. P., GIRARDIER, L. AND GRUNDFEST, H.: The chloride permeability of crayfish muscle fibers. Biol. Bull., Woods Hole 123: 509-510, 1962.
- 147. RINGER, S.: Further experiments regarding the influence of small quantities of lime, potassium and other salts on muscular tissue. J. Physiol. 7: 291-308, 1886.
- 148. RITCHIE, J. M.: The effect of nitrate on the active state of muscle. J. Physiol. 126: 155-168, 1954.
- 149. SANDOW, A.: Excitation-contraction coupling in muscular response. Yale J. Biol. Med. 25: 176-201, 1952.
- 150. SANDOW, A. AND MAURIELLO, G. E.: Force-velocity relation of nitrate treated muscle. Fed. Proc. 12: 123-124, 1953.
- 151. SCATCHARD, G. AND BLACK, E. S.: The effect of salts on the isoionic and isoelectric points of proteins. J. phys. Chem. 53: 88-99, 1949.
- 152. SCATCHARD, G., COLEMAN, J. S. AND SHEN, A. L.: Physical chemistry of protein solutions. VII. The binding of some small anions to serum albumin. J. Amer. chem. Soc. 79: 12-20, 1957.
- 153. SCHMIDT, H. AND STÄMPFLI, R.: Die Depolarisation durch Calcium-Mangel und ihre Abhängigkeit von der Kalium-Konzentration. Helv. physiol. acta 15: 200-211, 1957.
- 154. SCHMIDT, H. AND STÄMPFLI, R.: Das Ruhepotential markhaltiger Nervenfasern in natrium- und chlorarmen Ringer-Lösungen. Helv. physiol. acta 17: 62-81, 1959.
- 155. SCHWARTZ, C.: Beiträge zur allgemeinen Muskelphysiologie. I. Über Ermüdung und Erholung von Froschmuskeln unter dem Einfluss von Natriumsalzen. Pflüg. Arch. ges. Physiol. 117: 161-216, 1907.
- 156. SEKUL, A. A. AND HOLLAND, W. C.: Cl<sup>36</sup> and Ca<sup>45</sup> exchange in atrial fibrillation. Amer. J. Physiol. 197: 752-756, 1959.
- 157. SHANES, A. M.: Electrochemical aspects of physiological and pharmacological action in excitable cells. Part II. The action potential and excitation. Pharmacol. Rev. 10: 165-273, 1958.
- 158. SHANES, A. M. AND BERMAN, M. D.: Kinetics of ion movement in the squid giant axon. J. gen. Physiol, 39: 279-300, 1955.
- 159. SOLANDT, D. Y.: The effect of potassium on the excitability and resting metabolism of frog's muscle. J. Physiol. 86: 162-170, 1936.
- 160. SOLLNER, K.: The origin of bi-ionic potentials across porous membranes of high ionic selectivity I. J. phys. Chem. 53: 1211-1226, 1947.

- 161. STEINBACH, H. B.: Chloride in the giant axons of the squid. J. cell. comp. Physiol. 17: 57-64, 1941.
- 162. STEN-KNUDSEN, O.: The ineffectiveness of the window field in the initiation of muscle contraction. J. Physiol. 125: 396-404, 1954.
- 163. STEN-KNUDSEN, O.: Is muscle contraction initiated by internal current flow? J. Physiol. 151: 363-384, 1960.
- 164. STORMANN, H., KRAUPP, O., PILLAT, B. AND CLODI, P. H.: Die Verstärkung der Acstylcholionwirkung auf die quergestreifte Skeletmuskulatur durch Austausch des extracellulären Natriumchlorids gegen Natriumsulfat, Natriumnitrat, Natriumbromid und Saccharose. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 231: 488–495, 1957.
- 165. STRAUB, R.: Die Wirkungen von Veratridin und Ionen auf das Ruhepotential markhaltiger Nervenfasern des Frosches. Helv. physiol. acta 14: 1-28, 1956.
- 166. SZAIMI, T. AND TOMITA, T.: Electrical properties of the frog skeletal muscle membrane in Cl-free sulphate-, ferrocyanide-, and glutamate-Ringer's solutions. Jap. J. Physiol. 13: 641-656, 1963.
- TASAKI, I., TEORELL, T. AND SPYROPOULOS, C. S.: Movement of radioactive tracers across squid axon membrane. Amer. J. Physiol. 200: 11-22, 1961.
- 168. TAYLOB, R. E.: The contractile process is not associated with potential changes. J. cell. comp. Physiol. 42: 103-123, 1953.
- 169. TRAUTWEIN, W.: Generation and conduction of impulses in the heart as affected by drugs. Pharmacol. Rev. 15: 277-332, 1963.
- 170. WASHIO, H. AND MASHIMA, H.: Effects of some anions and cations on the membrane resistance and twitch tension of frog muscle fibre. Jap. J. Physiol. 13: 617-629, 1963.
- 171. WEBB, D. A. AND YOUNG, J. Z.: Electrolyte content and action potential of the giant nerve fibres of Loligo. J. Physiol. 98: 299-313, 1940.
- 172. WILBRANDT, W.: The effect of organic ions on the membrane potential of nerves. J. gen. Physiol. 20: 519-541, 1937.
- 173. WILDE, W. S.: The chloride equilibrium in muscle. Amer. J. Physiol. 143: 666-676, 1945.
- 174. WILKIE, D. R.: Mechanical properties of muscle. Brit. med. Bull. 12: 177-182, 1956.
- 175. WOODBURY, J. W.: Cellular electrophysiology of the heart. In: Handbook of Physiology, Sect. 2, Vol. 1, ed. by W. F. Hamilton and P. Dow, pp. 237-286. American Physiological Society, Washington, 1962.
- 176. YAMASHITA, S.: Stimulating effectiveness of cations and anions on chemoreceptors in the frog tongue. Jap. J. Physiol. 13: 54-63, 1963.
- 177. ZIERLER, K. L.: Effect of insulin on membrane potential and potassium content of rat muscle. Amer. J. Physiol. 197: 515-523, 1959.
- 178. ZOETHOUT, W. D.: The effects of various salts on the tonicity of skeletal muscles. Amer. J. Physiol. 10: 211-221, 1904.